
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Emma Sullivan 
 (Tel: 01443 864246   Email: lloydj4@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 20th October 2023 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee will be held in Penallta House and via 
Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 26th October, 2023 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters contained in the 

following agenda.  Councillors and the public wishing to speak on any item can do so by making a request 
to the Chair.  You are also welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, both these requests require a minimum 
notice period of 3 working days.  A simultaneous translation will be provided on request.   
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly  
 
 

 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 
individuals speaking will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 

 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


2  Declarations of Interest.   
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 
 

To receive and consider the following report: - 
 
3  Corporate Plan (Including Well-Being Objectives) 2023-2028. 

1 - 54 
 

 
 
 
Circulation: 
 
Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-

Dawson, R. Chapman, Mrs P. Cook, D. Cushing, C.J. Cuss, D.T. Davies, E. Davies, N. Dix, G. Ead, 
C. Elsbury, G. Enright, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, A. Gair, 
C.J. Gordon, D.C. Harse, T. Heron, A. Hussey, D. Ingram-Jones, M.P. James, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, 
Ms J.G. Jones, S. Kent, A. Leonard, C.P. Mann, A. McConnell, B. Miles, B. Owen, T. Parry, L. Phipps, 
M. Powell, D.W.R. Preece, Mrs D. Price, H. Pritchard, J.A. Pritchard, J. Rao, J. Reed, J.E. Roberts, 
R. Saralis, J. Scriven, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, L.G. Whittle, 
S. Williams, W. Williams, J. Winslade, K. Woodland and C. Wright 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 
Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including deta ils 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council websi te at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 
 

 
JOINT SCRUTINY - 26TH OCTOBER 2023  

 

  
SUBJECT: CORPORATE PLAN (INCLUDING WELL-BEING 

OBJECTIVES) 2023-2028 
 
 
REPORT BY: CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 To present Joint Scrutiny with the Council’s Draft Corporate Plan which details the 
new Well-being Objectives for the next five year period from 2023 to 2028, prior to 
the Plan’s journey to Cabinet and Council. 

 
1.2 The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 requires all public bodies to 

set Well-being Objectives that improves the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of their area.   

 

1.3 Our objectives are designed to maximise our contribution to the National Well-being 
Goals for Wales.    
 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 requires all public bodies to 

set Well-being Objectives to improve the social, economic and environmental well-
being of their area.   

 
2.2 The Council’s draft Well-being objectives have been developed using the Sustainable 

Development Principle which is described as the 5 ways of working.  
 
2.3 This report presents the Council’s five year draft Corporate Plan (2023-2028) at 

Appendix 1.  
 
2.4 The Plan is based on 5 Well-being Objectives with each Objective underpinned by 

several outcomes, chosen priority measures and a range of steps.   
 
2.5 The Plan also explains why these specific objectives, outcomes, measures and steps 

were selected.  
 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Joint Scrutiny review and discuss the draft Corporate Plan (2023-2028) and, should 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



members be minded, recommend it for onward consideration by Cabinet and, 
thereafter, Council in November 2023.  

 

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The Well-being of Future Generations Act places a statutory duty on public bodies to 

set and publish Well-being Objectives that maximise contribution to the well-being 
goals for Wales.  

   
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 This report introduces the Draft Council Corporate Plan (including Well-being 

Objectives) 2023 – 2028 at Appendix 1. Paragraphs 5.2 to 5.15 explains the main 
steps that have been followed through the process of setting the Well-being 
Objectives.  
 

5.2 The Well-being Objectives have been set within the 5 ways of working which makes 
up the ‘Sustainable Development principle. These are: 

 

• Long Term - the importance of balancing short term need, whilst looking and 
addressing the needs of citizen’s long term  

• Prevention - Acting to preventing problems occurring or getting worse  

• Involvement - Involving people with an interest in achieving the objectives 

• Collaboration - working with others to help meet long term challenges, 
maximising collective impact   

• Integration -  how public bodies objectives impact on each other or support 
other goals, taking an integrated approach.  

 
5.3 The process began with an analysis of the research that emerged from the Well-

being Assessment carried out by Policy colleagues in support of the Gwent Public 
Service Board’s Well-being Plan (GPSB).  

 
5.4  An extensive consultation process was carried out for the GPSB regional plan to 

identify what mattered to citizens across Gwent with research and data gathering 
also then carried out in 5 specific community areas in Caerphilly.   

 
5.5 The Council’s own Well-being Plan considered all of the information that emerged 

from this extensive involvement exercise to ensure we did not duplicate and could 
focus on what ‘additionality’ we could provide.   

 
5.6 The political commitments set out by the administration for the next 5 years were 

explored in detail during several Cabinet workshops which helped confirm the long 
term vision in more detail.  

 
5.7      Officers then held consultations called ‘the Caerphilly Conversation’ to ask residents 

‘what mattered to them’ in during the Autumn of 2022.  This was both an online and 
face to face consultation, held in libraires and community places across the borough.   

 
5.8 Those initial ‘What Matters’ conversations were then followed up with further 

consultation with residents that took place as part of the Council’s budget setting 
process.  

 

Page 2



5.9  Workshops were held with the Council’s Leadership Team and Management 
Network. 

 
5.10 Individual workshops were then held for each draft Well-being Objective with a range 

of officers from a wide range of services through which actions, resources and 
potential ways of measuring success were identified. 

 

5.11    A broad range of performance data from across the Council was reviewed, validated 

and analysed.  

  

5.12 The emerging Plan was then presented to our partners through the Local 

Development Group for the Public Service Board, to see how our draft objectives 

may impact their goals and to gain their feedback.   

 
5.13 The Regional Gwent Public Services Board has agreed to become a ‘Marmot 

Region’.  Based on a report ‘Building a Fairer Gwent, the Institute of Health Equity 
details the social determinants of health and 8 principles to address those 
inequalities.  The Gwent PSB formally recognised that inequality and inequity exists 
in our communities (for example in healthy life expectancy) and committed to take 
steps to address them at a collaborative level.   

  
5.14 As the Council’s draft Corporate Plan dovetails into the wider PSB plan, the 8 Marmot 

principles needed to be reviewed at a Council level to underpin our own developing 
objectives. Workshops with the Marmot team were held to ensure alignment. 

 

5.15  At a local level the Council also reviewed its Directorate Performance Assessments 
as well as the wide range of complaints and compliments to identify any emerging 
themes. 

 
5.16 The Council’s draft Well-being Objectives for 2023-2028 are set out below. These set 

out what the Council hopes to achieve on behalf of its communities: 
 
 WBO1  Enabling our Children to Success in Education 
 WBO2  Enabling our Residents to Thrive 
 WBO3  Enabling our Communities to Thrive 
 WBO4  Enabling our Economy to Grow 
 WBO5  Enabling our Environment to be Greener 
 
5.17 Each Wellbeing Objective is underpinned by a range of supporting Outcome 

statements that are written as if being reviewed in 2028. These are set out below: 
 
 WBO1 Enabling our Children to Success in Education.  
 

• We will have built effective leadership to maintain our aspiration for all 

learners to achieve high standards and make strong progress on their 

educational journey. 

• We will have safe and inclusive provision that will support the progress of 

vulnerable and disadvantaged learners 

• We will have improved literacy (English and Welsh), numeracy, digital, 

physical and wider skills to provide our learners with better life chances 

• Learners will have received effective support to ensure that post-16 

destinations are appropriate and sustainable 

• We will have built new and refurbished schools and settings so that we have 

Page 3



created learning environments that engage and inspire 

 
 WBO2 Enabling our Residents to Thrive 
 

• We will have responded to our aging demographic including creating age 

friendly communities 

• We will have met the needs of our most vulnerable children and adults 

• We will have enabled the Community and Voluntary Sector to support our 

residents 

• We will have supported residents through the cost-of-living crisis 

• We will have built new Council houses, provided more affordable homes, 

brought empty properties back into use and worked towards the prevention of 

homelessness 

 
 WBO3 Enabling our Communities to Thrive 
  

• Our physical infrastructure and digital connectivity will have improved to help 

people access towns, communities and services 

• We will have worked with partners to improve access to public and other 

alternative modes of transport to keep towns connected and enhanced active 

travel opportunities between communities 

• We will work with partners from across the Public Service Board towards 

improving the well-being and healthy life expectancy of our communities 

• We will have created conditions that enable our communities to be healthier 

and more active 

• We will have attractive open spaces that enhance quality of life 

 
WBO4 Enabling our Economy to Grow 

 

• We will have worked towards ensuring we have the necessary infrastructure 
in place to enable our economy and communities to grow 

• We will have worked in partnership to support businesses with a range of 
interventions aimed at stimulating the local economy 

• We will have a stronger relationship with our Business Community through 
town centre regeneration 

• We will continue to work with the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) to increase the 
availability of quality employment opportunities in the area and enhance our 
economy 

• Our local workforce will have the skills that employers need locally and 
regionally 

 
 WBO5 Enabling our Environment to be Greener 
 

• We will have worked with our residents to meet our statutory targets in 
relation to waste reduction, reuse and recycling 

• We will have reduced our operational carbon emissions to become a net zero 
carbon local authority by 2030 

• We will have helped our communities transition to low carbon transport 

• We will have promoted and explored green energy opportunities for the 
council, communities and businesses 

Page 4



• We will have protected and enhanced our natural environment to improve 
biodiversity and make us more resilient to climate changes 

• We will have set climate standards for new build Council Homes and worked 
to improve the green energy credentials and energy efficiency of our housing 
stock 

 
5.18  Each Objective and the supporting outcomes are designed to be integrated with each 

other.  For example, creating conditions for healthier and active lifestyles as an outcome 
in Well-being Objective 3 will help to children to succeed, as health and well-being is a 
building block for learning in Well-being Objective 1. 

         
5.19 Aside from the Corporate Plan, the Council has many priorities and strategies that 

support the full breadth of its work.  These are not referenced specifically within the 
Corporate Plan as our outcomes, steps and measures intended to deliver the Well-being 
objectives focus primarily on ‘additionality’ and are therefore high level and strategic 
activities.    

 

5.20 Conclusion   
 

The Council’s Corporate Plan and Well-being Objectives have been developed to be 
as aspirational as possible in improving the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural well-being of our area in partnership with other public services and other local 
authorities. 
 
The significant financial challenges facing public services as a whole at present, 
however, will mean that the success of the Council’s Mobilising Team Caerphilly 
Transformation Programme will be fundamental to the successful delivery of the 
Corporate Plan. 

 
 

6.    ASSUMPTIONS 
 

6.1 Unless a specific Well-being Objective is judged as delivered in its entirety, or 
assessment of data and public consultation responses change direction significantly, it 
is assumed the Well-being Objectives will continue throughout the course of the 
remaining year of the Corporate Plan. 

6.2 Resources to deliver the Well-being Objectives remain unchanged. If this changes, 

outcomes or steps may need to change accordingly. 

 
7.      SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 No Integrated Impact Assessment has been completed for this report although 

individual assessments may have been made to support activity within the Well-being 
Objectives.  Delivery of the Well-being Objectives maximises our contribution to all the 
national well-being goals as noted in Appendix 1. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Each Well-being Objective within the Corporate Plan has a specific section on 

resources that set out how the Council intends to support the delivery of each of the 
Well-being Objectives.  

 

 

Page 5



8.2 The financial situation across the Public sector is particularly challenging at present 
and the outlook over future years is no less bleak. The successful delivery of this 
Corporate Plan will, therefore, be intrinsically linked to the success of the Councils 
Transformation Programme and the two must be viewed collectively. 

  
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no personal implications arising from this Report. 
  
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
  
10.1 Caerphilly Conversation priorities Caerphilly - Caerphilly County Borough 
 
10.2 As detailed in paragraph 5.1 to 5.19 

    
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 

11.1 Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
 Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 and associated statutory guidance  
 
 
Author(s):  Richard (Ed) Edmunds, Corporate Director Education and Corporate 

 Services 
  Ros Roberts, Business Improvement Manager   
 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 

Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive 
Cllr Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance 
Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director, Education and Corporate Services  
Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Steve Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer 
Sue Richards, Head of Education Planning and Strategy 
Liz Lucas, Head of Customer and Digital Services  
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
Rob Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 

 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer  
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning  

 Nick Taylor-Williams, Housing Services Manager   
Rob Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection, Community and Leisure 
Services 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Paul Warren, Strategic Lead for School Improvement 
Gareth Jenkins, Assistant Director - Head of Children's Services 

 Jo Williams, Assistant Director - Head of Adult Services 
Clive Campbell, Transportation Engineering Manager 
Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager 
Paul Cooke, Senior Policy Officer 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer Equalities, Welsh Language   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/consultations/join-the-caerphilly-conversation-2022?lang=en-GB


 

Background Papers: 
 
Corporate Plan 2018-2023 

 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft Corporate Plan (including Well-being Objectives) 2023 - 2028  
 

Page 7

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Council-and-democracy/corporate-plan-2021-22.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

0 
  

          Appendix 1 

 

 

 

Caerphilly County Borough 

Corporate Plan 

Well-being Objectives  

 2023-2028 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



 

1 
  

 

 

Contents  Page 

 

1. Foreword by the Leader  

 
2 

2. Introduction by the Chief Executive 
 

3 

3. About us  

 
4 

4. How we developed our Well-being Objectives 

 

7 

5.  Our Well-being Objectives for 2023-2028  

 

10 

5.1. How we will deliver our Well-being Objectives 

 
12 

Well-being Objective 1 Enabling Our Children to Succeed in Education                    

 
15 

Well-being Objective 2 Enabling Our Residents to Thrive 

 
20 

Well-being Objective 3 Enabling Our Communities to Thrive 

 
25 

Well-being Objective 4 Enabling Our Economy to Grow 

 
29 

Well-being Objective 5 Enabling Our Environment to be Greener 

 
35 

6.  How our objectives contribute to other priorities  

 

40 
 

7.  How we will monitor our progress  

 

42 

8. How to Contact Us 

 
43 

Appendix A – the National Well-being Goals for Wales 

 
44 

 

  

Page 10



 

2 
  

Foreword from the Leader  
 
This Corporate Plan sets out our direction, priorities and objectives for the next 5 

years. The new well‐being objectives help us shape services, target our resources 

and prioritise our efforts as we continue to deliver the services our communities 
need.   
 

Since our last Corporate Plan in 2018 we have faced unprecedented challenges 
including a global pandemic, the ongoing cost-of-living crisis and significant and far-

reaching reductions in budgets. 
 
These issues have stretched our resources, tested our resilience and led to changes 

in the organisation itself. I would like to take this opportunity to commend our teams 
for the incredible ‘can do’ attitude they have shown. 

 
In common with other public service organisations across Wales, we continue to face 
significant financial challenges, but we remain committed to delivering sustainable 

services that meet the present and future needs of our communities.  
 

We know we must adapt to meet the challenges we face, focusing on flexibility and 
finding different ways to deliver what our communities need, when they need it. To do 
this we must engage with our communities to understand the needs of our residents 

and provide the right support to meet those needs as simply as possible  
 

Through this corporate plan we can take positive and progressive steps to achieve 
this. My Cabinet and our senior teams are committed to working together to deliver 
this plan, and through it, the services our communities need. 

 
By working together, we can create a better future for all our residents.  

 

 

  

Page 11



 

3 
  

2.  Introduction by the Chief Executive 

Our new Corporate Plan has been developed against the backdrop of some of the 
most significant societal, economic, environmental and  financial challenges we have 

ever faced. 

If we are to successfully deliver the key objectives set out within this document, 
whilst operating within this challenging landscape, it is clear we need to rethink and 
reshape what we do and how we do it. 

We will achieve this through the delivery of the biggest change programme this 

Council has ever faced. A challenging, complex but really exciting transformation 
programme called ‘Mobilising Team Caerphilly’ and this innovative approach is now 

gathering pace across the organisation as we begin to see positive progress being 
made. 

But this is just the beginning and, as we move towards delivering our Corporate Plan, 

even more effort will be required to make it a success. 

We know we must adapt to meet the challenges ahead, but this isn’t simply about 
cutting services; it's about flexibility and finding different ways to deliver what our 
communities need, when they need it. 

This includes using fewer buildings, being more business-minded, and making our 

services more accessible. We will also listen carefully to feedback from our residents 
to ensure they have the chance to shape their services moving forward.  

This isn’t going to be easy, but this is absolutely the right thing to do as our 

communities deserve nothing less. 

We have learnt that when we work together as Team Caerphilly, we can make a 
long-lasting positive impact and this Corporate Plan will provide the blueprint for this 

success. 

 

  

Page 12



 

4 
  

3.  About us 

 

Our Place 

The Caerphilly county borough covers an area stretching from the Brecon Beacons 

National Park in the north, to Cardiff and Newport in the south.  It is bordered to the 
north by Merthyr Tydfil, the west by Rhondda Cynon Taf, and to the east by Blaenau 
Gwent and Torfaen local authorities. 

The area lies at the heart of both the South Wales Valleys and the Cardiff Capital 
Region.  Caerphilly county borough occupies some 108 square miles (28,000 
hectares) of the Valleys area of South East Wales.  It is a little over 18.6 miles long 

and nearly 11 miles wide and is formed by the valleys of three rivers: the Rhymney, 
Sirhowy and Ebbw. Three quarters of the county borough is used for agriculture and 

forestry.  We have an expanding economy and an attractive environment that 
benefits from excellent transport links with good access to public transport and the 
South Wales Metro. Active travel and accessibility are important for the county 

borough. The south has good links to the M4 motorway, and the north connects to 
the A465 and its links to the Midlands and West Wales/Ireland. 

Our county borough is made up of five principal town centres: Caerphilly, Blackwood, 

Risca, Bargoed and Ystrad Mynach. We also have four local centres: Newbridge, 
Rhymney, Nelson and Bedwas. Each town centre has their own characteristics and 
attractions that make them great places to shop, work, live and enjoy.  

Our People 

We provide services to approximately 176,000 residents living across a mixture of 
urban and rural communities, living in 76,000 households. The 2021 Census showed 
40.9% of our population is aged over 50 years; we know that this figure will increase 

proportionately as life expectancy increases. In relation to protected characteristics 
we have growing diversity in terms of ethnicity and national identify, and more people 

are more open to stating their gender identity and sexual orientation. Below is data 
that gives some context to our place and people, compared where possible to the 
Gwent region and the rest of Wales. 

Our Demography 

 Caerphilly Gwent Wales UK 

Life Expectancy at Birth (Females) 

2018-2020 

81.1 81.7 82.1 n/a 

Life Expectancy at Birth (Males) 2018-
2020 

77.4 78.1 78.3 n/a 

Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth 

(Females) 2018-2020 

57.0 58.9 62.4 n/a 

Healthy Life Expectancy at Birth (Males) 
2018-2020 

56.7 60.1 61.5 n/a 

Percentage of Children Aged 4-5 with 

Obesity 2021-2022 

13.0 12.9 n/a n/a 

Percentage of Adults with a BMI of 30+ 
(Obese) 2021-22 & 2022-23 

31.7 28.9 25.3 n/a 

Page 13



 

5 
  

 Caerphilly Gwent Wales UK 

Percentage Economically Active (16-64) 

Jan-Dec 2022 

74.3 76.2 75.6 78.3 

Percentage Economically Inactive  
(16-64) Jan-Dec 2022 

25.7 23.8 24.4 21.7 

Percentage Unemployed (16-64) Jan-

Dec 2022 

3.3 3.0 3.0 3.6 

Number of People Homeless 1303 
cases 

   

Number of People on the Common 

Housing Register 

6,500    

Percentage Social Rented 
Accommodation 2021 

18.8 20.0 16.5 17.1* 

Percentage Private Rented 

Accommodation 2021 

13.3 14.2 17.0 20.3* 

Reliance on Public Transport (no cars or 
vans in household) 2021 

20.3 19.7 19.4 23.3* 

Percentage of Children living in Poverty 
(after housing costs) 2021-2022 

27.7 25.6 27.9 29.2 

Percentage of people with no 
qualifications 2021 

24.1 22.3 19.9 18.2* 

Percentage of people with level 4 
qualifications or above 2021 

25.3 28.8 31.5 33.8* 

Percentage of people working mainly 

from home 2021 

23.9 24.5 25.6 31.2* 

Percentage of residents travelling to 
work by car or van 2021 

65.2 64.3 61.3 49.0* 

 

Our Organisation  

The Council is the 5th largest local authority area in Wales and the Council is the 
largest employer in the area. The Council employs just over 8,000 staff with 73% of 
employees living in the county borough.  Staff are employed into a variety of different 

roles within service areas which make up the following Directorates:   

• Corporate Services and Education 

• Social Services and Housing 

• Economy and Environment  

The Directorates are headed by Corporate Directors who together with the Chief 
Executive, and Deputy Chief Executive, make up the Corporate Management Team 

who oversee the delivery of the Council’s business, including delivery of this plan.   

The Council operates a cabinet style of local government with a Leader, who is 
supported by 9 Cabinet Members.  We have 69 elected Councillors with a variety of 

roles including agreeing the Council’s policy framework, council tax and budget. 
 

Our Responsibilities 
 
The Council delivers over 600 services to the county borough to ensure our people 

and place are thriving and resilient. From early years support to social care, schools 

Page 14



 

6 
  

to care homes, environmental protection and infrastructure, provision of social 
housing, planning, public protection, economic regeneration, and transport planning 
etc. Our breadth of responsibilities is wide ranging and increasing. 

We face significant challenges, the financial outlook for the Council is of serious 

concern, and the projections for government financial support are worsening year on 
year. To ensure we remain effective and efficient as a Council during these 

challenging times, we must reshape and repurpose our organisation and services to 
ensure we can meet the challenges head on and continue to support the needs of 
our people and place.  

In delivering our Well-being Objectives and our transformation work we have a set of 
values that were created with our employees and guide us on this journey.  They are:  

 Innovative - We will empower staff to develop innovative and creative 

responses to challenges faced within a safe culture of mutual respect. 
 United and Connected - We share a vision that serves the common good; 

we will actively collaborate and engage in healthy internal communication. 
 Trusted - We will act credibly, reliably, and will foster, support and maintain 

positive relationships. 
 Resilient - We will build teams that are able to rise to the challenges we face 

and adapt to any adverse conditions. 
 Open and Transparent - We will communicate openly, share information, 

listen and appreciate other perspectives, give prompt feedback and learn from 
our mistakes. 

  

Page 15



 

7 
  

4. How we developed our Well-being Objectives 
 

In Wales we have a law called the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
that is designed to help public bodies work together to improve our environment, our 
economy, our society and our culture.   

The law asks us to apply sustainable thinking to our decision-making and to develop 
our Well-being Objectives to improve the lives of our residents and the environment 
they live in. 

The Sustainable Development Principle is based on five ways of working: 

- Long Term – looking at long term solutions without compromising the well-being 

of future generations 
- Integrated – helping other public bodies to meet their goals for the overall good 

of residents   
- Involvement – Involving those who have an interest in the well-being of the area 

and the delivery of our objectives 
- Collaboration – working with a range of people, and sharing ideas and 

resources, to help deliver the outcomes 
- Prevention – understanding the root causes of issues so we can put the right 

solutions in place to prevent problems arising or getting worse    

Using the above principles is the beginning of the process to develop our Well-being 
Objectives.    

We gathered a range of data and asked our communities what they thought by:   

 Researching the local assessment of well-being and that was recently conducted 
on behalf of the Gwent Public Services Board (PSB). Our teams conducted a 
thorough assessment of five community areas across the county borough 

through the use of data, population statistics, consultation, and engagement. 
Caerphilly County Borough Council led on the development of the regional Well-
being Plan for the PSB, and you can read more about the assessment in this link 

Local Assessment of Well-being 
 Reviewing the Labour Party Manifesto, as this details the political commitment of 

the elected administration for the next five years and held workshops with the 
Cabinet to confirm the vision. 

 Consulting with our communities as part of the ongoing ‘Caerphilly Conversation’ 

to ask people ‘what matters to them.’ We aimed to reach as many people as 
possible and paid particular attention to hearing the voices of seldom heard 
groups. This was both an online and face to face consultation, held in libraires 

and community places across the county borough. You can read more about our 
consultation work and methods here: What Matters Conversation 2023-2024 

 Recognising that inequality exists in our communities, as identified in the Well-
being Assessment, the Gwent Public Services board agreed to become a 
Marmot Region, and as such we will undertake actions to reduce inequalities 

within the county borough as our contribution to the Public Services Board Well-
being Plan.  There are 8 Marmot Principles, and we have reviewed our 
objectives and steps, to see how they contribute towards those principles. You 

can see the connections in section 6 page 40. 
 

Page 16

https://www.gwentpsb.org/en/well-being-plan/well-being-assessment/
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/involved/consultations/join-the-caerphilly-conversation?lang=en-GB


 

8 
  

 Holding workshops with our management networks to establish what outcomes 
services could deliver to meet the draft Well-being Objectives. 

 Asking our employees what they thought and promoted an online consultation. 

 Reviewing other consultations that took place in 2022. 

 Asking the Caerphilly Local Delivery Group of Public Services Board partners to 

consider our objectives. 

 Looking at data in our performance reports to consider what areas we want to 

improve upon. 

 Once formed, we took the draft Well-being Objectives to our elected members for 

their views and input. 

From the activities above we have drawn out five Well-being Objectives each with 

five aspirational outcomes that we aim to deliver across 2023-2028.   

The Act asks us to develop our objectives in a way that maximises delivery towards 

the National Well-being Goals that Welsh Government has set for Wales.  The table 

below demonstrates how our local Well-being Objectives contribute to the National 

Goals. 

How our Well-being 
Objectives link to National 
Well-being Goals 

A
 P

ro
s
p

e
ro

u
s
 W

a
le

s
 

A
 R

e
s
il
ie

n
t 

W
a
le

s
 

A
 H

e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
W

a
le

s
 

A
 M

o
re

 E
q

u
a
l 
W

a
le

s
 

C
o

h
e
s
iv

e
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 

V
ib

ra
n

t 
C

u
lt

u
re

 a
n

d
 

T
h

ri
v
in

g
 W

e
ls

h
 

L
a
n

g
u

a
g

e
 

G
lo

b
a
ll
y
 R

e
s
p

o
n

s
iv

e
 

Well-being Objective 1 

Enabling Our Children to 
Succeed in Education 

• • • • • • • 

Well-being Objective 2 

Enabling Our Residents 

to Thrive 
• • • • •   

Well-being Objective 3 

Enabling Our 

Communities to Thrive 
• • • • • • • 

Well-being Objective 4 

Enabling Our Economy to 

Grow 
• • • • • • • 

Well-being Objective 5 

Enabling Our 

Environment to be 
Greener 

• • • • •  • 

 

*We note that the National Goal – A Prosperous Wales will change its description 
from secure ‘decent’ to fair work’ in 2024. When we review our objectives for 

relevance during our annual  review cycle we will consider this change at that time.   
 
 

Page 17



 

9 
  

The Well-being Objectives have been developed alongside the significant financial 
challenges faced by the Council. Due to the extended period of austerity and 
increasing demand for many services, the financial position for Local Government 

has been challenging for a number of years. During the period 2008/09 to 2022/23 
Caerphilly County Borough Council has delivered savings of more than £100m to 

address reductions in funding and inescapable cost pressures. 
 
The Council has managed the financial challenges presented by the cost-of-living 

crisis during the 2022/23 financial year, but the position is likely to continue to be  
extremely challenging for both residents and the Council.  The 2023/24 budget 

proposals approved by Council on 23 February 2023 included total cost pressures of 
£55.478m. These pressures are being funded through an increase in the Welsh 
Government Financial Settlement of £22.152m, permanent savings of £4.972m, 

temporary savings of £6.862m, the one-off use of reserves totalling £15.345m, and 
£6.147m from a 7.9% increase in Council Tax. 

 
Due to the unprecedented levels of inflation experienced during 2022/23 (Consumer 
Prices Index (CPI) peaking at 11.1%), the current economic outlook, and the range of 

temporary budgetary measures that were approved for the 2023/24 financial year, 
the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) has been updated based on a 

range of assumptions, resulting in a potential savings requirement of £48.335m for 
the two-year period 2024/25 to 2025/26. 
 

Given the scale of the challenge that we collectively face, a financial strategy that 
seeks to continuously salami slice our services and deplete our reserves is not a 

sustainable or an appropriate approach, especially when the demands upon our 
services are far higher than ever, as our communities continue to present far greater 
and increasingly complex needs to us. To ensure we can meet the needs of our 

communities, whilst operating with reduced finances, a whole Council and a whole 
county borough holistic approach is needed.      

 
The Council will require a new whole organisation approach to service delivery and 
this significant and complex change programme is being led by the Chief Executive, 

Leader, Corporate Management Team, and Cabinet. The programme is co-ordinated 
through two key elements -  Transformation and Placeshaping Investment.  It is vital 

that the required changes are developed at pace and key decisions are made early 
to ensure the projected savings requirement for 2024/25 and 2025/26 can be 
delivered.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 18



 

10 
  

5. Our Well-being Objectives 2023-2028  
 

Our Well-being Objectives should be considered as an integrated suite of objectives 

that are complementary to one another. We have set our ambition for each outcome 

and the impact we intend to make at the end of the five-year period. These are ‘future 

statements’ that set out what we want to achieve and how we will measure our 

progress along the way.  

Our Corporate Plan encompasses a wide range of areas, including community 

regeneration, improving education, integrating health and social care, tacking 

environmental challenges and driving economic development. Through setting clear 

and measurable objectives across these areas, we can work towards improving the 

overall economic, social and environmental well-being of our residents, ensuring the 

people and places across our county borough can be the best they possibly can be.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

11 
  

OBJECTIVE 1 

ENABLING OUR CHILDREN 
TO SUCCEED IN 

EDUCATION 

OBJECTIVE 2 

ENABLING OUR 
RESIDENTS TO THRIVE 

OBJECTIVE 3 

ENABLING OUR 
COMMUNITIES TO THRIVE 

OBJECTIVE 4 

ENABLING OUR ECONOMY 
TO GROW 

 

OBJECTIVE 5 

ENABLING OUR 
ENVIRONMENT TO BE 

GREENER 

 We will have built effective 
leadership to maintain our 

aspiration for all learners 
to achieve high standards 
and make strong progress 
on their educational 
journey. 

 We will have safe and 
inclusive provision that will 
support the progress of 
vulnerable and 
disadvantaged learners 

 We will have improved 

literacy (English and 
Welsh), numeracy, digital, 
physical and wider skills to 
provide our learners with 
better life chances 

 Learners will have 
received effective support 
to ensure that post-16 
destinations are 
appropriate and 
sustainable 

 We will have built new and 
refurbished schools and 
settings, creating learning 
environments that engage 
and inspire 

 

 We will have responded to 
our aging demographic 
including creating age 
friendly communities 

 We will have met the 
needs of our most 
vulnerable children and 
adults 

 We will have enabled the 
Community and Voluntary 
Sector to support our 
residents 

 We will have supported 
residents through the cost-
of-living crisis 

 We will have built new 
Council houses, provided 

more affordable homes, 
brought empty properties 
back into use and worked 
towards the prevention of 
homelessness 

 Our physical infrastructure 
and digital connectivity will 
have improved to help 
people access towns, 

communities and services 

 We will have worked with 
partners to improve 
access to public and other 
alternative modes of 
transport to keep towns 
connected and enhanced 
active travel opportunities 
between communities 

 We will work with partners 
from across the Public 

Service Board towards 
improving the well-being 
and healthy life 
expectancy of our 
communities 

 We will have created 
conditions that enable our 
communities to be 
healthier and more active 

 We will have attractive 
open spaces that enhance 
quality of life 

 

 We will have worked 
towards ensuring we have 

the necessary 
infrastructure in place to 
enable our economy and 
communities to grow 

 We will have worked in 
partnership to support 
businesses with a range of 
interventions aimed at 
stimulating the local 
economy 

 We will have a stronger 

relationship with our 
Business Community 
through town centre 
regeneration 

 We will continue to work 
with the Cardiff Capital 
Region (CCR) to increase 
the availability of quality 
employment opportunities 
in the area and enhance 
our economy 

 Our local workforce will 
have the skills that 
employers need locally 
and regionally 

 We will have worked with 
our residents to meet our 
statutory targets in relation 
to waste reduction, reuse 

and recycling 

 We will have reduced our 
operational carbon 
emissions to become a net 
zero carbon local authority 
by 2030 

 We will have helped our 
communities transition to 
low carbon transport 

 We will have promoted and 
explored green energy 
opportunities for the 

council, communities and 
businesses 

 We will have protected and 
enhanced our natural 
environment to improve 
biodiversity and make us 
more resilient to climate 
changes 

 We will have set climate 
standards for new build 
Council Homes and 

worked to improve the 
green energy credentials 
and energy efficiency of 
our housing stock 
 

P
age 20



 

12 
  

 

5.1 How we will deliver our Well-being Objectives  
 

The whole Council, our political leaders, our Corporate Management Team, and our 

employees, have a responsibility to deliver the Well-being Objectives and to work 
towards the outcome statements on behalf of the county borough. 

Our Well-being Objectives have been developed with the guidance of the political 

administration; they cut across the whole of the Council and their delivery is the 

responsibility of the Corporate Management Team. 

Whist they are defined as a set of outward facing Objectives, the delivery of them 

together with the mechanisms to achieve them are firmly rooted in the day-to-day 

delivery of Council services. Our Corporate Management Team, working with senior 

leaders across the Council, will ensure that progress is integrated into our corporate 

and departmental performance management framework. Section 7 of this plan shows 

how we will monitor progress and build in democratic oversight through our Joint 

Scrutiny arrangements.  

Reshaping the Council to meet the Challenge 

We embarked upon our journey to transform the Council and established our Team 

Caerphilly – better together ethos in 2020.  This has provided us with a sound basis 

upon to build our whole organisation transformation programme.  Over the next few 

years, we will  reshape and refocus how we operate as a council and how we deliver 

services, with a focus throughout upon meeting the needs of our citizens. Our 

immediate efforts will  concentrate upon: 

 Improving our customer journey 

 Transforming our internal ways of working to deliver efficiencies 

 Collaborating with our partners to become more effective 

 Ensuring we can adapt to changes and shift our services to new ways of 
working quickly 

 Making sure our schools, social housing, leisure and social care sites are 
fit for the future 

 Continuing to develop our physical infrastructure to regenerate the 
county borough 

 

Looking Outwards 

The Objectives are designed to complement the work of the Gwent Public Services 

Board (PSB) and the desire of strategic leaders across the region to focus on the 

inequity some of our communities’ face through the Marmot principles. 

Gwent PSB agreed to become a Marmot Region and to adopt the eight Marmot 

principles to reduce health inequalities and inequity across Gwent. Gwent is the first 

area in Wales to become a Marmot region. The PSB performance management 

framework lists a set of proposed Marmot indicators, and we will also use these to 

help us monitor our progress against our Well-being Objectives.  The majority of the 

data for the Marmot indicators will come from other organisations such as Welsh 

Page 21



 

13 
  

Government and Public Health Wales, but we will use them wherever they are 

relevant and whenever they are available.  However, we may not always be able to 

report on some of the data as part of our annual review as it may be made available 

at different times during the year. 

We know that some of our communities have poorer well-being and that factors such 

as the cost-of-living crisis impacts directly upon poor mental and physical health. We 

recognise that we have to work as effectively as we can to improve individual and 

community well-being, and this requirement is reflected within the corporate 

objectives. 

The Council has declared a climate emergency with an overall aim to become a 

carbon neutral organisation by 2030. This ambition will require us to embed carbon 

reduction into everything we do. This ambition permeates through all we do.   

 

How our Well-being Objectives Align to Other Strategic Partnerships, Plans and 

National Policies 
 

Whilst our aim is to serve the population of Caerphilly County Borough, we sit firmly 
within a wider partnership family. We know we can’t deliver these objectives alone 
and working with our partners is a key requirement. It’s a complex landscape and the 

diagram below outlines our key partnerships.    

   
 

 

Wales

National Well-
being Goals

National 
Reources Wales

South Wales

Gwent

Gwent Public 
Services Board

Gwent Regional 
Partnership Board

Gwent Police and 
Crime

Aneurin Bevan 
University Health 
Board

A Marmot Region

Caerphilly

CCBC Well-being 
Objectives

Equalities 
Strategy

Welsh Language 
Strategy

Decarbonisation 
Strategy

Local 
Development 
Plan 

Education 
Strategy

Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal 
Im

p
ro

ve
 t

h
e 

W
el

l-
b

ei
n

g 
o

f 
o

u
r 

re
si

d
en

ts
 

Page 22



 

14 
  

 

 

Our objectives, along with our partners objectives, are aimed at improving the well-

being of our population.  We each contribute and consult with each other to ensure 

that we have a thriving economy, a healthy population, safe and supported 

communities, and a biodiverse natural environment.  

The table below demonstrates how our Well-being Objectives align with the 

objectives of our main partners.  There are of course many other partners that work 

alongside us,  working towards similar objectives, which we in turn will contribute 

towards.   

 

How our Well-being Objectives link to 

our Partners 

G
w

e
n

t 
P

u
b

li
c

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 B

o
a

rd
 

M
a

rm
o

t 
P

ri
n

c
ip

le
s

 

G
w

e
n

t 
R

e
g

io
n

a
l 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 B
o

a
rd

  

C
a

rd
if

f 
C

a
p

it
a

l 
R

e
g

io
n

 

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

 W
a

le
s

 

Well-being Objective 1 

Enabling Our Children to Succeed in 

Education 
 

• • • •  

Well-being Objective 2 

Enabling Our Residents to Thrive • • • • • 

Well-being Objective 3 

Enabling Our Communities to Thrive  
 

• • • • • 

Well-being Objective 4 

Enabling Our Economy to Grow 
 

• •  •  

Well-being Objective 5 

Enabling Our Environment to be 

Greener 
 

• •  • • 

 

More detail on how our objectives contribute to our partners can be found on page 40. 

 

  

Page 23



 

15 
  

Well-being Objective 1 Enabling Our Children to Succeed in 

Education  

 

1. What will this look like? 

 

 We will have built effective leadership to maintain our aspiration for all 

learners to achieve high standards and make strong progress on their 

educational journey 

 We will have safe and inclusive provision that will support the progress of 

vulnerable and disadvantaged learners 

 We will have improved literacy (English and Welsh), numeracy, digital, 

physical and wider skills to provide our learners with better life chances 

 Learners will have received effective support to ensure that post-16 

destinations are appropriate and sustainable 

 We will have built new and refurbished schools and settings thereby  creating 

learning environments that engage and inspire 

 

2. Why we chose this (our Well-being Statement)?  

 

Stakeholders living and working across the Local Authority recognised the disruption 

caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsequent impact on children, learners 
and young people who were unable to regularly attend school. Vulnerable or 

disadvantaged learners, children in early years settings, learners accessing post-16 
education, and learners in Welsh-medium settings may have been more 
disproportionately affected than others.   

This is also a moment of significant transformation in education with the 
implementation of Welsh Government Curriculum Reform, which aims to secure high 
standards and aspirations for all, including those affected by the impact of 

poverty.  The purpose of every school and setting’s curriculum is to support our 
children and young people to be: 
 

 ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives  

 enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and work  
 ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world 

 healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued members 
of society 

 

Throughout 2021-2022, a detailed and wide-ranging stakeholder engagement across 
Caerphilly identified ambitions for education across the county borough.  This 

feedback directly shaped the corporate objective, revised education strategy and 
associated policies and plans.  Feedback directly shaped this objective and provided 
the following feedback:  

  

• Pupils want an inclusive curriculum that provides creativity and autonomy.  They 

would like a broad range of experiences delivered through high quality teaching.  

Page 24

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.wales%2Four-national-mission%23%3A~%3Atext%3DOur%2520national%2520mission%2520is%2520to%2Cand%2520skills%2520planning%2520and%2520strategy&data=05%7C01%7CROBERR%40CAERPHILLY.GOV.UK%7Cc2fed55a079d4eedad3508db9f27d820%7C5a3d68bcadcf462e918129b4b42b314d%7C0%7C0%7C638278765700393861%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fvI1ADUQhkuJ2W6UERmEiOCWITU0tLi%2B65W%2BYDfrVi4%3D&reserved=0


 

16 
  

They would also like to take an active role in their school providing meaningful 

and valued feedback that informed decisions around curriculum content.  

• Young people want to learn life skills that will enable them for the future.  This 

includes learning a range of practical activities such as art, music, sport, 

construction and financial management.  They also want to receive the best 

support to enable them to make the right choices at post-16. 

• Parents and carers want happy, confident children in schools where all children’s 

strengths are recognised.  They want to see strong relationships and effective 

communication between school and families.  All children should be treated 

equally, regardless of background and circumstances. 

• Governors in schools want to ensure pupils in schools are learning in safe, 

inclusive environments with focus on the acquisition of reading, writing and digital 

skills.  They also want equity for all learners. 

• School leaders, teachers, learning support assistants and other school staff want 

to see the successful implementation of the Curriculum for Wales and Additional 

Learning Needs (ALN) Act having tangible benefits for learners. Strong peer 

networks across clusters and the wider school community will lead to improve 

transition and support. 

• Further education colleges and Careers Wales want to see pupils with additional 

learning needs thriving in post-16 environments. They also want to see a focus 

on improving pupils’ resilience and well-being, equipping pupils with the skills to 

achieve their full potential. 

• Union colleagues would like to see more support for key groups of learners 

including the most vulnerable and more able and talented learners. 

• The Scrutiny committee want to close the gap in educational attainment between 

groups of learners and to increase the proportion of our residents able to 

communicate through the medium of Welsh.  All aspects of the education system 

should be responsive to the needs of each learner, so that everyone feels valued 

and supported in the learning pathway. 

• Respondents were asked to identify what was most important to them in relation 

to education. Recurring points raised include that: 

- Education provides skills for jobs and work and that vocational education 

is future proof. 

- The curriculum should focus on providing practical, broad ranging, life 

skills and not just academic achievements. 

- School buildings and facilities need to be, modern and fit for purpose 

- Provide a safe environment. 

- Teaching should be high quality. 

- Education needs to be diverse and inclusive and accessible to all 

(disability, Welsh language provision). 

- Adult education is also important as is access to technology for all including 

reliable broadband to support education.   

- We need to encourage higher aspirations and raise expectations. 

- Pupil attendance has declined following the Covid-19 pandemic, with particular 

impact on families from disadvantaged backgrounds.  Similarly, vulnerable pupils 

have faced additional challenges which has impacted negatively on exclusions 

data. 

 

Page 25



 

17 
  

 Our wider Caerphilly Conversation to Residents in November 2022 identified that 

93% of respondents thought Education was more important than the last time 

this question was asked.  

 Welsh Government have set a minimum target of 26% of pupils taught through 

the medium of Welsh for learners in year 1 by 2032 in order to meet the 1 million 

Welsh speakers by 2050 target.  In 2019/20 our percentage was 17.9%. The 

period when young people leave Welsh medium education is a crucial time, in 

terms of establishing patterns of language use.  We want to increase the number 

of pupils taught through the medium of Welsh as there is a high demand across 

all industry roles for Welsh speakers. It is therefore crucial we seek to increase 

the number of young people leaving school who speak Welsh, as well as 

increasing the opportunities for adult learners. 

 The Labour administration manifesto pledge as part of the local government 

2022 election campaign was to “Build and Rebuild more 21st Century Schools, 

and continue commitments to improving standards and outcomes, high quality 

Welsh Language Education, and life-long learning through libraries and adult 

education”.   

 The Marmot principles focus on addressing inequality and this has a weighting 

towards children, early years and a best start in life. Gwent Public Service Board 

Gwent Becoming A Marmot Region.docx  

 

3. What steps will we take to achieve this?  

 

The key actions and detail are represented in the Implementation of the education 
strategy – ‘Pursuing Excellence Together’ Education Strategy 2022-2025.  The 
Education Strategy redefines the vision for all children, young people and adults 

accessing education across Caerphilly.   

In order to achieve the outcomes, we will prioritise: 

 The development of skills to have a significant impact on progress, 

attainment, provision, and well-being. 

 The acceleration of the progress of vulnerable pupils educated outside 

school (EOTAS) or home educated/schooled, and those leaving school at 16 

with no education, training, or employment (NEETS). 

 The improvement of pupil attendance and reduction of exclusions, with 

particular focus on vulnerable groups as we are 10% down on pre Covid-19 

levels. The exclusions were too high pre Covid-19 and even higher now.  

 Closing the gap in attainment between those learners from low-income 

backgrounds and those who do not live in poverty.   

 The provision of sufficient school places to meet demand as well as 

upgrading/replacing school accommodation, as appropriate, through the 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme. 

 

 

Page 26

https://www.gwentpsb.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/03-Proposal-Gwent-Becoming-a-Marmot-Region.pdf
https://www.gwentpsb.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/03-Proposal-Gwent-Becoming-a-Marmot-Region.pdf
https://democracy.caerphilly.gov.uk/documents/s43341/Appendix%201.pdf?LLL=0


 

18 
  

 

4. What evidence will we use to monitor progress?  

A wide range of quantitative and qualitative data will be used to monitor our progress 

against this objective. From this we have chosen a set of priority indicators. We will 
also use the Marmot indicators wherever relevant.    

 

Priority Indicators 
 

1. Improve attendance for pupils from disadvantaged backgrounds 

2. Reduce or ensure the number of schools placed in a follow up category by 

Estyn remains low 

3. Reduce the percentage of ‘at risk’ NEET young people at the point of leaving 

compulsory education 

4. Reduce the number of surplus places 

5. Reduce the number of permanent exclusions and the number of fixed term 

exclusions 

 

Marmot Indicators 

None that are applicable to Caerphilly at this time. 

 

5. What resources will we use to deliver these outcomes helping to meet 

the objective?  
 

A range of grants are applied for throughout the year for a range of work. In 2022/23 

there was an estimated £39m of revenue grant funding used by the Education 
Directorate. Whilst grant funding brings a degree of uncertainty for future planning 

purposes, the Council has been successful over recent years in maintaining high 
levels of grant income and expect this success to continue over the medium term 

Although grants and funding can change over time, the list below identifies some of 
the main resources we have available to deliver our objective. 

 A base budget of approx. £173m to deliver our work. 

 We will work with our stakeholders to ensure school improvement services are 

as cost effective and impactful as possible.  

 We will make best use of digital grant funding.  For example, in collaboration with 

the Welsh Government and all 22 local authorities in Wales, developing the 

‘sector owned, sector led' EdTech Service to ensure schools and local authorities 

achieve the best value for money when purchasing digital equipment, software 

and services. 

 Within childcare we are bringing funding streams together (both capital and 

grants) and services like midwifery are also coming together. We are sharing 

buildings with wider partners and have shared pooled funding agreements, as 

well as aligning funding streams internally to widen the staff team we have in 

Early Years to support further across the County Borough. 

Page 27



 

19 
  

 Our new schools’ builds programme will aim to include childcare from inception. 

 We are creating community focused schools so schools can be an asset for the 

community.  The Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme (Formerly 

known as 21st Century Schools) is a jointly funded Major Capital Investment 

Programme between Welsh Government and the Authority.  As part of the 

current ‘Band B’ programme, the Council has secured a £78million investment 

which is currently delivering school improvement projects such as a new 

replacement Ysgol Gymraeg Cwm Gwyddon, an extension for Trinity Fields 

School, a new Centre for Vulnerable Learners in Pontllanfraith, a new build 

extension as part of the amalgamation of Llancaeach Junior School and 

Llanfabon Infants School and a new replacement Plasyfelin Primary School 

which will be our first Net Zero Carbon School for the Authority. 

  

Page 28



 

20 
  

 

Well-being Objective 2 Enabling Our Residents to Thrive 
 

1. What will this look like? 
 

 We will have responded to our ageing demographic including creating age 

friendly communities 

 We will have met the needs of our most vulnerable children and adults 

 We will have enabled the Community and Voluntary Sector to support our 

residents  

 We will have supported residents through the cost-of-living crisis 

 We will have built new Council houses, provided more affordable homes, 

brought empty properties back into use and worked towards the prevention 

of homelessness 

 

2. Why we chose this (our Well-being Statement)?  
 

Over the next  ten years (2033) 23.5% of our population will be in the 65 and over 

age group, an increase of 4.2% from 19.3% in 2018.  Whilst our population of older 
adults is increasing, our birth rate is reducing. Social isolation and lack of 
connections can negatively impact our ageing residents. We therefore want to 

promote equality and interaction within communities and between generations. 

We conducted a locality assessment over 5 community areas (the Gwent Well-being 
Assessment February 2022), and this identified that meeting the needs of our most 

vulnerable was a priority for both children and adults. Isolation in the wake of Covid-
19, raised concern that we ‘should cater for older people to remain as active and 
independent as possible’ and 99% of respondents said looking after the vulnerable 

must be a priority post pandemic.  

From a social care perspective, meeting the needs of our most vulnerable children 
and adults is core business underpinned by the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014 and the Wales Safeguarding Procedures.  Safeguarding is 
everybody’s business, and the Act places a legal responsibility on everyone, not just 
professionals, to report concerns to Social Services or the Police. 

However, whilst safeguarding is at the heart of our core business, we provide 

services to a wide range of people who may require additional support in order to 
retain their independence and to remain living together as families.  All assessments 

completed are based on the ‘what matters conversation’ enshrined in statutory 
guidance that aims to help people and families to help themselves. Services provided 
are based on the individual needs identified by the assessment. 

We know our communities will be severely impacted by the ongoing cost-of-living 
crisis. Our population data highlights that 34% of children are living in poverty (after 
housing costs). Consequently, people in the greatest need will turn to the Council for 

support, navigating and accessing any financial or practical support that is available. 

Page 29



 

21 
  

Increasing numbers of homelessness across the county borough is also a concern 
as well as a lack of affordable housing. Our ongoing Caerphilly Conversation 
consultation in Autumn 2022, highlighted 95% of people responding felt that 

homelessness should stay as important once lock down restrictions ended.  86% of 
respondents said housing and homelessness was important, 56% of whom said it 

was more important than last year. 

Private sector housing accommodates 80% of households in Caerphilly and the 
Council has a finite resource to improve this, yet the outcomes can be significant. 
Private sector housing investment can make an important contribution to improving 

housing conditions, increasing independence, preventing homelessness, tackling fuel 
poverty, increasing housing supply, widening choice and creating sustainable 

communities.  

Within the borough 20% of our residents live in social housing and Caerphilly Homes 
(the Council’s Social Housing Service) are the biggest provider in the county borough 

as we own and manage nearly 11,000 homes. At present we have 6,500 people on 
our waiting list, consisting of a combination of those who wish to move from one area 
to another, a larger property, a smaller property or those who need a property.  A lack 

of supply of an adequate range of homes, combined with the popularity of the county 
borough, has increased house prices for rental and purchase to unaffordable levels 

for some people. 

Our evidence, supported with  Welsh Government household projections, indicates  
we need to increase the supply of affordable homes, especially 1 bed and 4 bed 
homes, as we have an over provision of 3 bed homes. North of the county borough 

up to 90% of housing is pre 1914 terraced housing of poorer quality, which brings 
challenges for achieving modern energy standards and suitability for modern family 

living.  

In supporting the ageing demographic, elderly people tell us they wish to stay in their 
own home; to assist with this desire, we recognise this will require new homes to be 
built as flexible and adaptive ‘lifetime’ homes as part of our longer-term planning.   

We are already making some progress towards this and have completed just over 

500 minor adaptations and 86 major adaptations, alongside a further 52 Disabled 
Facilities Grants over the  last year, thereby helping residents to remain independent 

in their own homes and this positive activity will continue over the longer term.     

It is also well-documented that we have experienced unprecedented rises in inflation, 
and fuel bills leading to a cost-of-living crisis. The Private Rented Sector makes up 

12% of the housing market and rent levels nationally, regionally, and locally are 
increasing.  

We created a service called ‘Caerphilly Cares’ during the pandemic to support 
residents. Post Covid-19 we have adapted this service to meet the needs of our most 

vulnerable and in need of financial and emotional support. So far, this service has:  

- Received over 5,000 calls from our residents and 200 emails asking for help. 
- Set up 33 authorised Welcoming Spaces across 49 venues totalling £144,000 

of investment. 
- Supported 46 community organisations & groups to obtain funding worth over 

£250,000. 

- Supported over 300 individuals on a 1-2-1 basis of which 78 have been 
helped to access local community provision. 

Page 30



 

22 
  

- Arranged 800 food parcels and 800 successful applications for discretionary 
housing payments. 

- Provided energy advice to over 250 tenants. 

- Made 350 referrals to Citizen Advice Bureau for debt and money advice. 
- Supported over 1,000 residents to apply for the Welsh Government Winter 

Fuel Payment. 
- Generated £3.2m additional income for residents during 2021/22 financial 

year. 

- Welsh Data shows that the annual change in rental prices has gone from 
1.7% from April 2022 to 4.4% by March 2023*.  

- The cost-of-living data shows that the average price to heat a home from 
October 2020– April 2021 was £1042 and had increased in October 2022– 
April 2023 to £2500 per annum*.                                  

*Source Data Cymru 

This information shows there is still a strong need to support our residents through 

the cost-of-living crisis, and in the longer term we intend to build further community 
resilience with our voluntary sector and community partners.   

There is a long-term vision for a larger range of services to work collaboratively 

‘under the umbrella’ of Caerphilly Cares to support early intervention and prevention, 
to meet the needs of all residents and support the most vulnerable.   

 

5. What steps will we take to achieve this?  

 

In order to achieve the outcomes, we will prioritise: 

 Continue to build Council Housing as well as working in partnership with local 

housing associations and housing developers to deliver new homes. 

 Developing a new respite/short breaks service for both adults and children. 

 Expanding our Flying Start areas and offering joined up support in partnership 

across Gwent to more families than before. 

 Creating better choices across housing options, identify and bring new sites 

forward and bring empty homes back into beneficial use. 

 Implementing a Rapid Rehousing Transition Plan. 

 Increasing accommodation by exploring opportunities to work with the Private 

Rented Sector for people who are in housing need.      

 Promoting and running literacy courses and other learning such as cooking 

and drama, which can support residents with independent living skills.  

 Continue with the approach of ‘What Matters’ conversations to better 

understand the underlying needs of our individuals and our communities.          

 Work in partnership with the Gwent Association of Voluntary Organisations 

(GAVO) to further promote and expand the voluntary sector across the county 

borough.                                                                                                                             

 

 

 

Page 31



 

23 
  

4. What evidence will we use to monitor progress?  

A wide range of data, including qualitative feedback, will be used to monitor our 
progress against this objective. From this we have chosen a set of priority indicators. 

We will also use the Marmot indicators were relevant as noted below:  

 

Priority Indicators 

1. Increase the numbers of adults who are supported to live independently 

2. Reduce or ensure the number of children on the Child Protection Register and 

Children Looked After remains stable 

3. Increase the percentage of people whose care and support has helped them 

have a better quality of life 

4. Increase the value of financial savings generated as a direct result of face-to-

face support on the effects of cost-of-living crisis 

5. Increase the number of cases where residents have had risk of homelessness 

prevented by remaining in existing accommodation  

6. Increase the number of new homes built directly or in partnership 

 

Marmot Indicators 

1. Percentage of people whose care and support has helped them have a better 

quality of life. Source: National Survey 

2. Percentage children living in relative low-income families. Source: Department 

of Work and Pensions 

3. Percentage people living in households in material deprivation. Source: Welsh 

Government 

4. Rate of households for whom homelessness was successfully prevented for 

at least 6 months per 10,000 households. Source: Welsh Government 

5. Rate of households in temporary accommodation per 10,000 households. 

Source: Welsh Government 

 

5. What resources will we use to deliver these outcomes helping to meet 

the objective?  
 

Safeguarding and meeting the needs of the most vulnerable adults and children is an 

essential element of our core business and this is delivered with core funding to 
deliver an effective range of services.  Welsh Government grant funding is also used 
to provide a wide range of early intervention and prevention services that underpin 

the statutory work undertaken across the Council.  Any changes to this grant funding 
will inevitably impact upon demand for statutory intervention.  We continue to engage 
in all regional partnerships and collaborations to share learning, to inform service 

development and improve service delivery.   

We will fund this objective from our core budgets but we will also establish a 
workstream of the Affordable Homes Partnership with Registered Social Landlord 

partners, looking at the later living requirements and options to encourage right 
sizing.      

Page 32



 

24 
  

We will use Housing Revenue Account funds to redevelop existing sheltered stock 
and new build housing for our ageing community.  The Rapid Rehousing 
Transitionary Plan Housing Revenue Account (HRA) identifies resources and use of 

borrowing for new builds.  

The Council funds Cornerstone who work with us to provide a homeless outreach 

service and support in bed and breakfast. Cornerstone also lead on the Prison 

Pathway, delivered in partnership with National Probation Service and Local 

Authorities to deliver immediate response, enhancing engagement levels with prison 

leavers to help reduce re-offending rates. 

Our reconfigured rents team will move rent collection officers into tenancy support 
roles to support our contract holders to sustain their tenancy and not look to evict 

when facing difficulties with low level arrears.  

Our Adult Education and Life skills work has a programme called ‘Multiply’ which is 
an educational and learning funding stream via the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 
Coleg Gwent Franchise also deliver essential skills for 5 authorities across the 

region.  

ILS (Independent Living Skills) Coleg Cymorth also provides a fund to deliver 

independent living and community learning grant. 

Supporting People is funded by the Housing Support Grant which is currently £8.5m. 

This is an early intervention grant programme to support activity, which prevents 
people from becoming homeless, stabilises their housing situation, or helps 
potentially homeless people to keep accommodation. Funds are allocated for four 

primary objectives: People have been able to engage with housing related support 
services (advice, information and assistance) and are better informed about the 

options available to them and/or know where to go for assistance. People have been 
able to access emergency/temporary accommodation or short-term supported 
accommodation and can access and sustain a suitable settled home. 

Caerphilly Cares will use the Shared Prosperity Fund and enhance working 
relationships with housing in delivering the green energy project to residents’ homes. 
The project aims to assist with decarbonisation and cost-of-living with heating homes 

and providing suitable energy saving related measures.    

There are many different grants for early years work, and this is detailed in Well-

being Objective 1. 

We have successfully bid for funding from Welsh Government to employ an age 

friendly community co-ordinator for 2 years.  This is to support working on the 
standards of age friendly communities.   

  

Page 33



 

25 
  

Well-being Objective 3 - Enabling Our Communities to Thrive 
 

1. What will this look like? 

 

 Our physical infrastructure and digital connectivity will have improved to help 

people access towns, communities and services 

 We will have worked with partners to improve access to public and other 

alternative modes of transport to keep towns connected and enhanced active 

travel opportunities between communities  

 We will work with partners from across the Public Service Board towards 

improving the well-being and healthy life expectancy of our communities 

 We will have created conditions that enable our communities to be healthier 

and more active  

 We will have attractive open spaces that enhance quality of life 

 

2.  Why we chose this (our Well-being Statement)?   

 

We believe developing Community Hubs across our county borough will provide a 

“holistic” service by providing access to a range of council services, such as libraries, 
council tax advice, customer services and other interactions all in one place.  We 

know a lot of our residents rely on public transport and access services in their local 
communities. Data on car ownership as part of the Well-being Assessment shows 
that our county borough is below the national average compared with the rest of 

Wales.   Wales national cost-of-living data tells us that fuel (petrol and diesel) have 
increased dramatically from December 2020 to December 2022, so bringing our 

services closer to our residents where possible will be vital.  

The Gwent Well-being Assessment (February 2022) identified accessible transport 
(in cost, availability, routes to access) across the county borough and in every 

community area as a significant area that mattered to people.  This highlights the 
need for creating more affordable and accessible public transport options and 
alternative private transport options and active travel routes. Information on this is 

covered under Well-being Objectives 4 and 5.   

All respondents in the assessment and the Caerphilly Conversation from January 
2022 strongly valued their green spaces and environment and therefore, felt strongly 

about things like litter and dog fouling as they spoiled their environment.   In the 
ongoing Caerphilly Conversation in Autumn 2022, 93% felt we should increase 
opportunities for people to be physically and mentally fit. 93% of respondents thought 

Green Spaces and Parks were important to be prioritised in the 2023 budget, with 
just over half of those saying they thought this was more important than last year. 

Our complaints data shows there are frequent concerns around public spaces such 

as trees, general weed control, grounds maintenance, grass cutting, illicit tipping, 
litter and dog fouling, parking and footpath quality. 

We want to create a place that supports a healthy lifestyle and helps people to 
become more physically active.  In the National Survey for Wales (March 22) the 

Page 34



 

26 
  

proportion of adults reporting good or very good general health was lower than in 
2020-21.  Only 36% of people are a healthy weight, while 62% are overweight or 
obese (including 25% obese).  Our percentage of children aged 4-5 with obesity is 

higher than the rest of Gwent. Our Education Objective has actions that will help to 
address this. The Percentage of Adults with a BMI of 30+ (Obese) is nearly 32% 

compared to Wales average of 25%. 
 
In our own Sports and Active Recreation Strategy, we acknowledge that obesity 

levels have increased and there is little evidence of change in physical activity level.  
Overall, it is estimated that the total cost of physical inactivity to Wales is in the 

region of £650,000,000 per annum. Physical health and mental health are the 
foundations for every other activity from learning and education, to finding a job, all of 
which are more difficult without a good level of health.  Despite these trends 

‘Creating an Active Wales’ reports how physical activity has many mental as well as 
physical health and well-being benefits, for example:  

 

 Up to 50% reduced risk of developing major chronic diseases such as heart 
diseases/ diabetes and some cancers. 

 A 20-30% reduced risk of premature death. 
 

In Autumn of 2022 leaders from across public sector organisations in Gwent came 

together for the ‘Building a Fairer Gwent’ launch event.  There are various inequities 
across the region identified, in health, housing, education and employment. The 

health board’s Director of Public Health at that time, explained that women in the 
most deprived areas of Gwent are living just 48 years of their life in good health, 20 
years less than women in the least deprived areas.  

Tackling inequities across Gwent is complex. When looking at the root causes of 

inequities, there is a complex system made up of institutional structures, services, 
organisations, policies and people.  Therefore, equalities and addressing inequalities 

are the foundations for creating a good quality of life. The primary purpose of the  
PSB is to focus upon these differences and develop improvement preventative 
interventions.   

Actions and benefits delivered here also will make a difference to the delivery of 
Well-being Objective 2 ‘Enabling our Residents to Thrive’.    

 

3. What steps will we take to achieve this?  

 

In order to achieve the outcomes, we will prioritise: 

 The development of a modernised presence in communities that makes best 

use of our assets in providing a wider range of services and, at the same 

time, opening up our spaces for use by communities and partners by 

developing Community hubs to provide greater targeted services. 

 Promoting Public Transport Integration, Active Travel, Connectivity and 

Digital Infrastructure to reduce travelling distances and promote and improve 

key transport hubs. 

Page 35



 

27 
  

 Review of our enforcement activities with a view to developing a more 

coordinated and holistic approach across the county borough. 

 Developing and delivering the new Active Travel Network Map and prioritised 

programme increasing our capacity for faster delivery of the Active Travel 

infrastructure programme. 

 Delivering on the ambitions of our Sport and Active Recreation Strategy. 

 Helping local community clubs and groups to engage people in volunteering, 

and in supporting people to lead independent and healthy lives. 

 Seeking to improve digital connectivity and skills across our communities. 

 

4. What evidence will we use to monitor progress?  
 

A wide range of quantitative and qualitative data will be used to monitor our progress 

against this objective. From this we have chosen a set of priority indicators. We will 
also use the Marmot indicators were relevant as noted below:  

 

Priority indicators 

1. Increase the healthy life expectancy of Caerphilly residents 

2. Increase the percentage of people satisfied with their ability to get to/access 

the facilities and services they need 

3. Reduce the percentage / number of people who are lonely 

4. Reduce the number missed waste and recycling collections as a % of total 

collections undertaken (food, garden, waste, recycling).   

5. Cleanliness standards within our streets to meet national standards 

6. Increase the overall number of visitors to our sport facilities and country 

parks Increase resident satisfaction with their local environment or 

community 

 

Marmot Indicators 

1. Healthy life expectancy at birth (males, females). Source: Public Health 

Outcomes Framework, Public Health Wales. 

2. Inactivity rate excluding students (males, females). Source: Annual 

Population Survey. 

3. % of people feeling safe at home, walking in the local area and when 

travelling. Source: Welsh Government. 

4. % of people satisfied with their ability to get to/access the facilities and 

services they need.  Source: Welsh Government. 

5. Percentage overweight or obese adults (BMI<25). Source: Public Health 

Wales. 

6. % of people who are lonely (age 16+). Source: Welsh Government. 

 

 

Page 36



 

28 
  

 

5. What resources will we use to deliver these outcomes helping to meet 

the objective?  

 

The new Leisure and well-being centre is estimated to cost £33.6m, £20m of which 
has been provided by the UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund following a successful 

funding bid. The remainder is being funded by the Council. 

Project specific grants and existing planned capital and revenue budgets, for 
designated programmes and projects will be used to deliver this objective. 

With specific reference to housing, new build funds attached to the Housing Revenue 
Account and additional borrowing will be used alongside Welsh Government Social 

Housing Grants.  

Existing staffing structures will be used in different ways to deliver all works required 
within this objective, with occasional, specialist staff, contractors, and partnerships 
appointed where necessary.  

Asset rationalisation will be used so we are able to provide a full council offer in 

central places providing a 'one stop shop' service where customers can access 
multiple services and facilities from a single location.  This is anticipated to save 

money by reducing our asset costs and add a positive contribution to our overall 
carbon emissions. 

Our infrastructure hosts a large and diverse range of assets that requires continuous 

maintenance and periodic improvements, to secure and address current and future 
needs, such as roads, footpaths, cycleways, street lighting, signage and street 
furnishings, that will mainly be operated through in-house provision and some 

contractual partnership arrangements.  

Accessibility of information will be improved through digitisation and technology and 

training to ensure our website and mobile usage is as accessible to those with 

disabilities accessing our information, to ensure there is equal access to information.  

and inform our citizens of council functions, news, and activities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 37



 

29 
  

Well-being Objective 4 – Enabling Our Economy to Grow  
 

1. What will this look like? 

 

 We will have worked towards ensuring we have the necessary infrastructure 

in place to enable our economy and communities to grow. 

 We will have worked in partnership to support businesses with a range of 

interventions aimed at stimulating the local economy 

 We will have a stronger relationship with our Business Community through 

town centre regeneration 

 We will continue to work with the Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) to increase 

the availability of quality employment opportunities in the area and enhance 

our economy 

 Our local workforce will have the skills that employers need locally and 

regionally 

 

2. Why we chose this (our Well-being Statement)?  

 

Our long-term thinking, along with the Covid-19 response, meant that we focused on 
planning effectively for future crises, which has required us to take a long-term view 
to supporting our town centres and improving our local economy. Changes in working 

practices and the general downturn in the economy, post the pandemic, means this 
is an area we should concentrate on. Our town centres are being used differently and 

the South Wales Metro links are starting to come to fruition.  

When looking at developing this objective, the Gwent Well-being Assessment 
(February 2022), for every community area, identified accessible transport (in cost, 

availability, routes to access) across the county borough as a significant area that 
mattered to people.    

The ongoing Caerphilly Conversation consultation on Budget Setting for 2023/24 
undertaken in January 2023 echoed the results from the Caerphilly Conversation 

consultation that took place in January 2022, where residents were provided with a 
list of Council services and asked which ones we should prioritise when planning 

services. 84% of those who responded agreed that public transport should be a 
priority showing that this is an enduring concern for our residents. 

When we followed up the Caerphilly Conversation in Autumn 2022, we asked 
residents “What matters to you?”. We asked if the priority areas previously identified 

in January 2022 were more important, or the same or less important. 51% of 
respondents felt that public transport was more important (34% felt it was the same). 

One of the key themes that came out of our ongoing consultation was a lack of public 

transport, in general, and more specifically, a lack of integration between public 
transport was an issue for many residents.  This was a concern particularly in 
enabling those who do not drive/cannot afford a car to access essential services. 

Demographic data shows we have over 20% of people who rely on public transport, 
which is higher than the All-Wales average of approximately 19%. 

Page 38



 

30 
  

A critical building block of long-term planning is the Local Development Plan (LDP), 
which sets out the Council's policies and proposals to control the use of land within 
the county borough for a 15-year period.  This provides the basis by which planning 

applications are determined and gives a clear indication of where development will 
be encouraged and resisted and is the basis for determining future development and 

conservation needs.    

The LDP aims to ensure that the needs of all the county borough's residents and 
visitors are met and the regeneration of our towns, villages, employment centres and 
the surrounding countryside is delivered in a well-balanced and sustainable manner. 

In planning for vital new development, the work of the LDP is to balance this against 
the need to protect what is valuable about our environment. 

The LDP was adopted in 2010 and ran up to 2021, therefore a 2nd Replacement 

Caerphilly County Borough LDP (2RLDP) will need to be prepared. The 2RLDP will 
run up to 2035, beyond the period of this Corporate Plan.  Preparation is complex 

and there are  several statutory steps that need to be followed.  The 2RLDP Delivery 
Agreement comprises the Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) which sets out who 
will be consulted on the RLDP and when, and the timetable for its delivery. 

Consultation at the Gwent Public Service Board’s community assessment planning 

level clearly indicated that residents wanted us to build on strengths in the 
community and wanted young people to have opportunities. Support was high for 

both young and old people to have things to do and especially for young people to 
have places to socialise. 

Looking at our Town Centres our Caerphilly Conversation, and follow-up surveys, 
identified that “thriving” and “vibrant” town centres with no empty properties, and with 

leisure venues/restaurants to encourage people to visit the area were important. 

Building on the Caerphilly Consultation results from January 2022, in Autumn 2022 
we asked residents to tell us whether they still felt these things are important.  83% of 

respondents believed sustainable travel was more important or the same as in the 
previous year and 75% believe Town Centre improvements are either more important 
or the same.  

The Welsh Government (WG) ‘Valleys Taskforce 2016-21 Final Report’ concluded 
that it is a timely opportunity to take stock of what has been achieved and what could 
be carried forward to support future work with Valleys Towns.  Through numerous 

consultation channels, they identified that the communities wanted the following 
issues to be addressed: 

 Create more quality job opportunities locally and address temporary and zero-

hours work. 

 Improve public services, particularly transport and affordable housing. 

 Maintain and make greater use of the local natural environment and cultural 
heritage. 

In response WG has set up its Transforming Towns Programme. Transforming Towns 

is committed to addressing the decline in town centres and seeks to ensure they not 
only survive but thrive. Transforming Towns is focussed on improved biodiversity and 
green infrastructure; reuse of derelict buildings; increasing the variety of services on 

offer in towns with an emphasis on flexible working and living space; and access to 
services and leisure. The priority is securing the long-term sustainability of our town 
centres by driving footfall and making them attractive places to spend time.  In order 

Page 39



 

31 
  

to access the Transforming Towns funding WG requires a Placemaking Plan to be 
developed by the Council and its partners to guide investment decisions. 

Caerphilly town centre is an established tourism destination, has excellent 
connectivity to Cardiff and the wider region and is a gateway to the County Borough 

from the south.  The town is designated by Welsh Government (WG) as a town of 
strategic importance and in 2019 in recognition of this, we identified a need for a 

placemaking plan to harness and focus this investment in a coherent manner.  

This placemaking plan, branded “Caerphilly Town 2035”, provides a bold vision for 
the town centre and identifies a series of projects/interventions that will help to 

achieve its goals over a 15-year period. The vision is ambitious and long term and 
includes a number of “corner stone” projects that have the potential to transform 
Caerphilly town centre and the role it performs in the Cardiff Capital Region.  

Whilst there is a current Placemaking Plan in place for Caerphilly Town Centre 

(Caerphilly Town 2035), we are committed to refresh and update the existing 2009 
Blackwood Masterplan and Regeneration Strategy with a comprehensive Place 

Making Plan, to identify investment opportunities to ensure the High Street maintains 
its vibrancy and diversity in a post Covid-19 environment. Blackwood Town Centre is 
specifically highlighted as a key regeneration opportunity within the Cardiff Capital 

Region Metro Impact Study. 

The Placemaking Plan for Blackwood Town Centre will set out a strategic vision for 
the future following an unprecedented period of economic instability over recent 

times and will look at how Blackwood can prosper without an over reliance on retail, 
including Town Centre housing need; consideration of physical interventions such as 
street widening, cycling and walking routes; Identifying ways of improving and 

expanding the night-time economy offer; and exploring ways of in which the town 
centre can contribute to achieving Net Zero Carbon commitments, such as ‘greening’ 

the town centre. 

The Heads of the Valleys Masterplan, which includes Bargoed, emphasises the 
town’s role as a service centre for the north of the County Borough, was adopted by 
the Council in November 2020 following public consultation, however it is recognised 

that a specific place making plan is also necessary for Bargoed Town Centre. 

Bargoed Town Centre is a historic town that has a mix of Victorian buildings, 1960’s 
infill and contemporary commercial units. The town has experienced fluctuating 

fortunes over the years and currently the Town Centre is struggling to maintain a 
coherent direction for its future.  Parts of the existing high street are underused and 

afflicted by vacant commercial premises.  There is recognition that the 
redevelopment, re-evaluation and rehabilitation of the town centre can help to 
maximize the vibrancy of the night-time economy by returning liveable residential 

units to the area and encouraging businesses to stay open past traditional closing 
times. Further investment to the Town Centre is required to ensure that the town 

becomes more attractive, competitive, and welcoming. 

The Placemaking Plans will help the Council develop programmes and policy to 
support the regeneration of Bargoed and Blackwood Town Centres through place-
based solutions, good placemaking principles, the return of residential living to the 

town centre and positive public spaces. 

Additional priorities from consultation activities showed that over 90% of respondents 
considered jobs and employment and opportunities to be more important, whilst 80% 

Page 40



 

32 
  

considered support for businesses more important than in the previous year. Our 
population data shows that 24% of our population are made up of economically inactive 
people.  There are a range of reasons for this, and we have actions in place to help 

people such as upskill, fund childcare and other barriers to employment. 

In the county borough the number of active businesses per working 10,000 working 
age population was 435 in 2021. This made us 5th place in Wales, the Wales figures 

was 559. Whilst this is better than in 2020 when the figure was 410, it is less than the 
459 reported in 2018.   
 

There were 63 new active businesses (per 10,000 working age population) in 2021 
making us 10th in Wales, this was lower than the Wales figure of 74.  The percentage 

of active businesses that were new in 2021 was 14%. 
 
The number of active business closures (per 10,000 per working age population) 

increased in 2021 to 52, although this is lower than the Wales figure of 64. We want 
to help and work with business to support them and the local economy and bring in 

opportunities that our survey respondents identified were important* 
* Source Information from the Data Cymru Self-assessment data set 

 

3. What steps will we take to achieve this?  

In order to achieve the outcomes, we will prioritise: 

 Safeguarding appropriate land for employment purposes across and 

releasing additional land, where appropriate, to facilitate business growth 

and encourage inward investment. 

 Delivery of the Metro rail improvements as part of the wider Welsh 

Government and Cardiff Capital City Regional partnership programme.  

 Using our town centre place plans, maximise opportunities to re-energise our 

towns, through a mix of retail, small business retention, new business start-

ups, leisure and housing.  

 Maximising the job opportunities for residents through the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal and identify upcoming growth sectors and labour market 

demand across the county borough and the wider Cardiff City Region.  

 Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities via 

targeted support for small and medium-sized businesses to undertake new-

to-firm innovation, adopt productivity-enhancing, energy efficient and low 

carbon technologies, and techniques, and start or grow their exports. 

 Jointly commissioning Further Education and Adult Learning Courses and 

locally procured bespoke courses to address skills gaps, address recruitment 

issues linked to skills gaps, and focus on growth areas in the local labour 

market for those in employment. 

 Supporting residents with barriers to employment including Economically 

Inactive people, Short Term Unemployed, Long Term Unemployed and 

Youth Not in Employment, Education or Training (aged 16-24 years old). 

 Preparing and delivering a new 10 year Economic Regeneration Strategy in 

partnership with key stakeholders to guide decision making and investment 

and boost productivity and competitiveness.  

Page 41



 

33 
  

 Creating Social Value across the county borough through the use of our third 

party spend.  

 

4. What evidence will we use to monitor progress?  

A wide range of quantitative and qualitative data will be used to monitor our progress 

against this objective. From this we have chosen a set of priority indicators. We will 
also use the Marmot indicators were relevant as noted below: 

 

Priority indicators 

1. Increase the number of jobs created (net impact across the region) 

2. Reduce the number of economically inactive people  
3. Increase the number of people supported to engage in job-searching and 

receiving support to gain employment   
4. Improve our economic performance as defined through the UK 

competitiveness index 

5. Increase the proportion of the working age population with an NVQ Level 4 
or equivalent qualification 

6. Improve the average wage across the county borough relative to Wales/UK  
 

Marmot Indicators 

1. Percentage of all employees earning below Living Wage Foundation rates. 

Source: ONS 
2. Percentage unemployed (16-64 years) (females, males). Source: Welsh 

Government 

3. Percentage of 0–7 year olds living in households in receipt of income-related 
benefits, or tax credits with income less than 60% of the Wales median * 

* This indicator is currently under development 

Once adopted the objectives of the Local Development Plan will be monitored by an 
Annual Monitoring Report. 

 

5. What resources will we use to deliver these outcomes to meet the 

objective?  

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a central pillar of the UK government’s 

Levelling Up agenda. The primary goal of the UKSPF is to build pride in place and 
increase life chances across the UK.   

Caerphilly Town 2035 has a dedicated Programme Manager and a multidisciplinary 

consultant team for the delivery of the plan. Council, Welsh Government (WG) 
Transforming Towns Grant Support, together with Cadw and Transport for Wales and 
the CCR City Deal resources will be used where appropriate.  

We will deploy Caerphilly Enterprise Fund and Transforming Towns funding in 

relation to empty properties and provide appropriate grant support for visible 
improvements to local retail, hospitality, and leisure sector facilities throughout the 

county borough. 

Page 42



 

34 
  

There is the Transforming Towns Acquisition Fund for Site Assembly together with 
Compulsory Purchase Powers and any other enforcement powers that may be 
required.  

In addition to the Council budget, we will be collaborating with Partners in the Public 

sector UK Government, WG, Transport for Wales and Cadw, the private sector and 
the third sector to deliver on a range of investment opportunities. 

Bargoed Placemaking and Blackwood Placemaking Plan will be funded by WG and 

the Council, using Transforming Towns Grant Support and the Council’s own funding.  
Expansion of Community Enterprise Fund (CEF) programme through Shared 

Prosperity Fund Investment to town centre retail and service sector with wrap around 
business support for small businesses. 

There is a funding programme to support start-up businesses/entrepreneurial support 
and we want to increase Business start-up grants through the Shared Prosperity 

Fund (SPF).  

SPF and Communities for Work fund plus will be used to deliver Employment 
Support through the Caerphilly Employment Programme for residents with barriers to 

employment including Economically Inactive people, Short Term Unemployed, Long 
Term Unemployed and Youth Not in Employment, Education or Training (aged 16–
24-year-old). 

The Metro Plus Road Traffic Authority Programme will see each Local Authority 
within Southeast Wales receive a £3million share to implement a scheme.  Funding 
is being provided from Welsh Government (£15million) and from the Cardiff Capital 

Region City Deal (CCRCD) (£15million) to implement this programme, with a further 
£20m being funded by Local Authority and private investments. The specific Metro 
Plus proposal for Caerphilly is for the provision of a new transport interchange for 

Caerphilly Town, on the site of the current bus and rail stations. The interchange will 
include high quality passenger facilities including electronic information and EV 

charging for buses.   Local Transport Plan publication will have Annual Progress 
Reports. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 43



 

35 
  

Well-being Objective 5 - Enabling Our Environment to be 

Greener 
 

1. What will this look like? 
 

 We will have worked with our residents to meet our statutory targets in relation 

to waste reduction, reuse and recycling 

 We will have reduced our operational carbon emissions to become a net zero 

carbon local authority by 2030  

 We will have helped our communities transition to low carbon transport 

 We will have promoted and explored green energy opportunities for the 

council, communities and businesses  

 We will have protected and enhanced our natural environment to improve 

biodiversity and make us more resilient to climate changes 

 We will have set climate standards for new build Council Homes and worked 

to improve the green energy credentials and energy efficiency of our housing 

stock. 

 

2. Why we chose this (our Well-being Statement)? 

 

Climate change is one of the biggest challenges facing future generations. A 

landmark report by the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

published in 2018 warned us that we had less than 12 years (now 10) to avoid 

climate breakdown. We need to reduce our emissions in Wales by at least 95% by 

2050, but preferably sooner; progress to date has not been fast enough, which 

means we need to reduce our emissions dramatically in the next decade to achieve 

the target of 45% reduction by 2030. 

Our residents agree, 85% of those who responded to the Caerphilly Conversation 

consultation were concerned about ‘climate change’, this came through stronger in 

the council survey than in the overall Gwent Public Services Board Well-Being 

Assessment consultation. 

The Council has declared a climate change emergency and produced a 

Decarbonisation Strategy, action plan and energy prospectus. Decarbonisation is 

more than acting on the impacts of climate change and can progress commercial 

opportunities, health benefits and opportunities for green jobs and skills, so 

improvements in this aspect support improvements in the other objectives. 

Our consultation work also showed that residents thought waste collection and ability 
to recycle is the most important operational service and this has been a key finding 
over many years of engagement.  

In the ongoing Caerphilly Conversation consultation on Budget Setting for 2023/34 
93% of respondents to our survey, said Waste and Recycling should continue to be 
prioritised in the budget for 2023.  

Page 44



 

36 
  

We have faced some challenges in reaching the national recycling targets over the 
last 3 years compared to the rest of Wales, so increasing recycling but also reducing 
waste at source, is a critical part of this objective with a separate strategy and an 

associated action plan being developed to improve this.  

An analysis of our complaints for 2022 highlighted concerns around refuse, recycling, 
green waste, missed collections and civic amenity sites. Trees, general weed control, 

grounds maintenance, grass cutting, illicit tipping and street cleansing also featured. 

Turning to the natural environment and biodiversity, these are two different but 
interconnected topics.  Biodiversity is about the habitat and species that live in the 

natural environment and so we need to protect and build on both. This is an area of 
significant collaboration across Gwent and is a focus of the Gwent Public Services 
Board’s Well-being Plan 2023-2028.    

The Gwent Green Grid Partnership, a Welsh Government funded Enabling Natural 

Resources and Well-being (ENRaW) Scheme, is a consortium of key partners 
(including the 5 Gwent local authorities working with National Resources Wales, 

Forest Research and Severn Wye Energy Agency) and stakeholders, including other 
interested organisations. They will deliver a consistent approach to Green 
Infrastructure management across Gwent and a collaborative framework that will 

inform the delivery of the South East Wales Area Statement, a key document for 
collaboration produced by Natural Resources Wales. It will act as a key delivery 

mechanism that enables strategic planning, ecosystem service assessment, eco-
connectivity and mechanisms that create healthier citizens, stimulates business 
opportunities and provides community benefits (cohesion, skills development and 

volunteering). 

Working with volunteers, partners, community projects and involving specialists in 
the community makes such a difference to improving our environment and 

biodiversity and this will form part of our new Biodiversity Action Plan.  You can read 
more about the ground breaking projects from the partnership work here Gwent Green 
Grid Partnership   

The Gwent Green Corridors work is establishing an Access Group to deliver practical 
on-the-ground improvements locally and at a regional scale by identifying missing 

links in the access network. This collaborative way of delivery demonstrates one of 
the strengths of the partnership enabling people across the Gwent region to lead 

active healthy lifestyles, provide economic opportunities and expand, where possible, 
the network available to cyclists and horse riders. 

We will continue with ‘Nature Isn’t Neat’ which is an approach that encourages us all 
to alter the way we manage grassland on our verges, open spaces and parks to 

benefit nature. Grasslands and green spaces are allowed to grow in the spring and 
summer to create meadow areas and space for nature. 

The ‘Nature isn’t Neat' project is establishing joined-up green space management to 

create wildflower-rich pollinator habitats across Gwent local authority areas including 
Blaenau Gwent, Monmouthshire, Newport, Torfaen and ourselves, you can read 
more about this here Nature Isn't Neat 

 

 

Page 45

https://www.monlife.co.uk/outdoor/green-infrastructure/green-infrastructure-partnerships-projects/gwent-green-grid-partnership/
https://www.monlife.co.uk/outdoor/green-infrastructure/green-infrastructure-partnerships-projects/gwent-green-grid-partnership/
http://www.monlife.co.uk/outdoor/nature-isnt-neat/


 

37 
  

This objective supports many other goals and in particular our key partners, Natural 
Resource Wales whose objectives for ‘Nature and People Thriving Together’ (to 
2030), include assisting a Wales where: 

• Nature is recovering, 

• Communities are resilient to climate change, and 

• Pollution is minimised. 

 

3. What steps will we take to achieve this?  

In order to achieve the outcomes, we will prioritise: 

 The development and implementation of a Waste Strategy that will set out 

how we will work with our residents to reduce, reuse and recycle household 

waste. 

 Delivering the interventions set out within the Councils Decarbonisation 

Strategy and Action Plan. 

 Exploring options to use Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) to help 

develop at scale and pace, reduce energy consumption, mitigate the effects 

of climate change, and support the foundational and circular economies. 

 Providing electric vehicle infrastructure across the Caerphilly county borough 

incorporating electric vehicles into our fleet and trial new technologies as 

they evolve. 

 The use of various engagement and information tools to ensure contract 

holders are equipped with the knowledge to make more efficient use of 

energy, to reduce carbon output and energy costs within their homes 

 Invest in Council homes, over the next 5 years to maintain the housing stock 

including the Planned Asset Maintenance Strategy (PAMS) programme, 

sheltered housing remodelling, large scale voids, adaptations, and one-off 

projects. 

 Continuing our work to develop renewable energy projects that contribute to 

the reduction of carbon emissions such as the Solar Farm and the use of 

Hydrogen. 

 A review of our local flood risk strategy to ensure we continue to respond to 

the needs of the areas prone to flooding.  

 Developing a community benefits policy for the county borough to maximise 

funding to our communities that experience significant levels of development 

and particularly those of national significance. 

 Working with partners to unlock former industrial or other brownfield sites 

where financially viable.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

38 
  

4. What evidence will we use to monitor progress?  

A wide range of quantitative and qualitative data will be used to monitor our progress 

against this objective. From this we have chosen a set of priority indicators. We will 

also use the Marmot indicators were relevant as noted below: 

Priority indicators 

1. Increase the percentage of municipal waste collected by local authorities and 

prepared for reuse and/or recycled, including source segregated biowastes 

that are composted or treated biologically in another way  

2. Increased the number of net zero homes built by Caerphilly Homes and its 

RSL partners 

3. Increase the number of trees planted across the county borough to meet the 

targets set out within our Decarbonisation Strategy 

4. Reduce our CO2 operational emissions 
 

Marmot Indicators 

1. Average annual micrograms of NO2 pollution exposure at residential 

dwelling locations.  

2. Percentage (£) spent in local supply chain through contracts * 

* This indicator is currently under development 

 

5. What resources will we use to help meet outcomes of the objective?  

In addition to the base budget, there are project specific grants and existing 
planned capital and revenue budgets, for designated programmes and projects to 
deliver this objective. Existing staffing structures will be used to deliver all works 

required within this objective, with occasional, specialist staff, contractors, and 
partnerships appointed where necessary.  

Asset rationalisation will be used to secure fit-for-purpose properties, and 

appropriate access to sites and locations, as needed for local services delivery 
and community accessibility, well-being benefits and improvement, for both 

residents and biodiversity. 

Our infrastructure hosts a large and diverse range of assets that requires 
continuous maintenance and periodic improvements, to secure and address 
current and future needs.  These include, for example, roads, footpaths, 

cycleways, street lighting, signage and street furnishings, that will be operated by 
ourselves with some contractual partnership arrangements. We will continue the 

facilitation of the Caerphilly Local Access Forum, preparation of a revised Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan and increased partnership working including the 
preparation of a Regional Access Strategy. 

Asset rationalisation and improvements for Public Spaces are required to secure 

fit-for-purpose applications and appropriate access to sites and locations for all 
generation’s needs, use and enjoyment, for example Town centres, Country  

 

Page 47



 

39 
  

Parks, Public Parks, Sports and Play Areas.  Continued external funding will be 
important for continued multi use development of green space and the Gwent 
Green Grid Partnership along with Natural Resources Wales and important for 

continued support of local biodiversity projects in collaboration with the Caerphilly 
Nature Partnership Partners. 

Public accessibility will be improved through our internet to better engage with and 

inform our citizens of Council functions and activities.  A multitude of specialist 
items will be purchased through an established supplier network, giving regard to 
its carbon footprint (deliveries), and as required for different projects and 

programmes of works being delivered.   

Sharing resources with partner groups means we are working with a range of 
sector organisations including Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP), 

Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) Welsh Government (WG) and the 
local partnership to develop a sustainable waste management service that 

enables the authority to achieve the higher-level recycling targets and provide a 
better quality of recycling feedstock for the reprocessing industries. 

Some of the other funding streams are:  
 

 Electric Vehicle Welsh Government (WG) ULEV funding. 

 UK Government - OZEV funding. 

 Cardiff Capital Region EV Infrastructure Delivery Programme. 

 Working with ‘Connected Kerb’ for the infrastructure delivery and operation. 

 

  

Page 48



 

40 
  

6. How our Objectives contributes to other priorities - Gwent 

Public Services Board Objectives, National Well-being Goals 

and the Marmot Principles 
 

 
Well-being 

Objective 

 

 
Gwent PSB 

Objectives 

 
National Well-being 

Goals 

 
Marmot Principles 

 

WBO 1 - Enabling 
Our Children to 
Succeed in 
Education 

 

 We want to create a 
fairer, more 
equitable and 
inclusive Gwent for 
all. 

 

 Cohesive 
Communities 

 Healthier 

 More Equal 

 Prosperous 
 Resilient 

 Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh 
Language 

 

 Give every child the best 
start in life 

 Enable all children, young 
people, and adults to 
maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their 
lives 

 Ensure a healthy standard of 
living for all 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Strengthen the role and 
impact of ill-health prevention  

 Tackle racism, discrimination, 
and their outcomes 

 Pursue environmental 
sustainability and health 
equity together 
 

 

WBO 2 - Enabling 
Our Residents to 
Thrive 

 

 We want to create a 
fairer, more 
equitable and 
inclusive Gwent for 
all 

 

 We want a climate-
ready Gwent, where 
our environment is 
valued and 
protected, 
benefitting our well-
being now and for 
future generations. 

 

 Cohesive 
Communities 

 Healthier 

 More Equal 
 Prosperous 

 Resilient 
 

 

 Give every child the best 
start in life 

 Enable all children, young 
people, and adults to 
maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their 
lives 

 Ensure a healthy standard of 
living for all 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Strengthen the role and 
impact of ill-health prevention 

 Tackle racism, discrimination, 
and their outcomes 

 Pursue environmental 
sustainability and health 
equity together 
 

Page 49



 

41 
  

 

WBO 3 - Enabling 
Our Communities 
to Thrive 

 

 We want to create a 
fairer, more 
equitable and 
inclusive Gwent for 
all. 

 

 Cohesive 
Communities 

 Globally 
Responsible 

 Healthier 
 More Equal 

 Prosperous 

 Resilient 

 Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh 
Language 

 

 Give every child the best 
start in life 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Enable all children, young 
people, and adults to 
maximise their capabilities 
and have control over their 
lives 

 Ensure a healthy standard of 
living for all 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Strengthen the role and 
impact of ill-health prevention 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Tackle racism, discrimination, 
and their outcomes 

 Pursue environmental 
sustainability and health 
equity together 
 

 

WBO 4 - Enabling 
Our Economy to 
Grow 

 

 We want to create a 
fairer, more 
equitable and 
inclusive Gwent for 
all. 
 

 

 Cohesive 
Communities 

 Globally 
Responsible 

 Healthier 

 More Equal. 

 Prosperous 

 Resilient 

 Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh 
Language 
 

 

 Create fair employment and 
good work for all 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Pursue environmental 
sustainability and health 
equity together 

 

WBO 5 - Enabling 
Our Environment 
to be Greener 

 

 We want a climate-
ready Gwent, where 
our environment is 
valued and 
protected, 
benefitting our well-
being now and for 
future generations. 

 

 

 Cohesive 
Communities 

 Globally 
Responsible 

 Healthier 

 More Equal 

 Prosperous 

 Resilient 
 

 

 Ensure a healthy standard 
of living for all 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Strengthen the role and 
impact of ill-health prevention 

 Create and develop healthy 
and sustainable places and 
communities 

 Pursue environmental 
sustainability and health 
equity together 

 

Page 50



 

42 
  

7. How we will monitor our progress  
 

We will review our Corporate Plan every year to ensure our Well-being Objectives 

are still relevant and will make our updated plan available on our website: 

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/my-council/strategies,-plans-and-policies/improvement-plan 

We will report our performance against  the Well-being Objectives as part of our 

statutory annual self-assessment process which is shown below. 

This process brings together the internal Council activity together with the external 
delivery of our Well-being Objectives,  as a set of organisational learning that 
assesses whether our external work is making a positive difference to our 

communities. Through this annual process our  elected members have the 
opportunity to challenge our progress and input into future activity.   

 

SELF-ASSESSMENT PROCESS 

 

 

 

  

Page 51

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/my-council/strategies,-plans-and-policies/improvement-plan


 

43 
  

Section 8: How to Contact Us 
 

Your views and opinions in relation to the content of our reports, plans and priorities 
are important to us. We welcome your active input to allow us to utilise meaningful 

information and data to inform what services and how we deliver them to ensure that 
we meet the needs of our residents and our communities.  

 
You can contact us via: 
 

Email: BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk or via the Council Performance webpage and follow the 
instructions on screen. 

  
Alternatively, please contact: 
 

Ros Roberts  
Business Improvement Manager  

Caerphilly County Borough Council  
Penallta House 
Ystrad Mynach  

Hengoed  
CF82 7PG 

 
Tel: 01443 864238 
E-mail: roberr@caerphilly.gov.uk 

  
 

You can also contact us via social media.  
 

 
 

 

This document is also available in different languages and formats upon request. 
 
Further information can also be found on our website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk 

 

 
Add Tweet handle and Facebook, and Insta 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 52

mailto:BIT@caerphilly.gov.uk
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/


 

44 
  

Appendix A National Well-Being Goals 

The seven National Well-being goals show the kind of Wales we want to see. 

Together they provide a shared vision for the public bodies in the Act to work 

towards.  The Act makes it clear the listed public bodies such as ourselves must work 

to achieve all of the goals. 

Goal Description of the goal 

A prosperous 
Wales 

An innovative, productive and low carbon society which recognises 
the limits of the global environment and therefore uses resources 
efficiently and proportionately (including acting on climate change); 
and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an 
economy which generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work. 

A resilient Wales 

A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural 
environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that support 
social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt 
to change (for example climate change). 

A healthier Wales 
A society in which people's physical and mental well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit future 
health are understood. 

A more equal 
Wales 

A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what 
their background or circumstances (including their socio economic 
background and circumstances). 

A Wales of 
cohesive 
communities 

Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities. 

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 
and thriving 
Welsh language 

A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the 
Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation. 

A globally 
responsible 
Wales 

A globally responsible Wales. A nation which, when doing anything 
to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-
being of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may 
make a positive contribution to global well-being. 

Version 11, 19 October 2023 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Corporate Plan (Including Well-Being Objectives) 2023-2028.
	Appendix 1


